#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC. NO. SC00-119

JAMES E. BRAKE, JR.,

Respondent.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DIANA K. BOCK
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 440711

# ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General

Chief of Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0238538 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813)873-4739

#### COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the record on appeal shall be designated by the letter "R," followed by the page number. Petitioner shall be referred to as the State or Petitioner and Respondent shall be referred to as Respondent or defendant.

## STATEMENT REGARDING TYPE

The size and style of type used in this brief is 12-point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 8, 1998, Detective E. Fitzpatrick, executed a probable cause affidavit setting forth the allegations against Respondent regarding the violation of section 787.025, Florida States. (R 17-19)

On January 23, 1998, the State Attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit, in and for Sarasota County, filed an information charging the Respondent, James E. Brake, Jr., with a violation of section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997), stating in pertinent part:

[Respondent] [A] person over the age of eighteen, having previously been convicted of a violation of chapter 794 or section 800.04 Florida Statutes, or a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction, on December 26, 1997, [Respondent] did intentionally lure or entice M.C., a child under the age of twelve into a structure, dwelling or conveyance for other than a lawful purpose, in such case made, and provided and against the peace and dignity of the State of Florida.

(R 31) On March 28, 1998, Respondent filed a Motion To Find Florida Statute 787.025 Unconstitutional/Motion To Dismiss Information. (R 37-38) On April 20, 1998, a hearing was held on Respondent's Motion. At that hearing the trial judge declared section 787.025 constitutional, specifically relying upon the general concepts of law set forth in <u>Hankin v. State</u>, 682 So.2d 602 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). (R 7) On May 1, 1998, The Honorable Bob

McDonald entered an Order Finding Florida Statute 787.025 Constitutional, denying Respondent's Motion. (R 43)

On June 22, 1998, Respondent entered a negotiated plea of nolo contendere to the charged violation of 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997), reserving his right to appeal the trial court's denial of his Motion to declare that statute unconstitutional. (R 3-6, 50-51) Respondent was sentenced to nine months in county jail with credit for time served and five years probation. (R 6)

A Notice of Appeal was filed on July 15, 1998. On December 10, 1999, the Second District Court of Appeal entered its Opinion finding section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997), unconstitutionally vague, reversing Respondent's conviction.

Brake v. State, 746 So.2d 524 (Fla. 2d DCA, December 10, 1999).

On January 6, 2000, Petitioner filed its Notice of Appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, appealing the Opinion of the district court to this Honorable Court. On February 8, 2000, Petitioner filed a Motion For Extension Of Time to file its initial brief. This appeal follows.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that the Second District Court of Appeal erred by finding section 787.025, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional. Further, Respondent had no standing to bring the constitutional challenge below since his conduct fell squarely within the prohibitions of the statute and such conduct is not constitutionally protected.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE**

WHETHER SECTION 787.025, FLA. STAT. (1997), WHICH PROSCRIBES LURING AND ENTICING A CHILD TO ENTER A DWELLING, STRUCTURE OR CONVEYANCE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE?

The district court below found that the term "lawful purpose" within section 787.025 was constitutionally vague. Petitioner respectfully argues that the district court was in error.

The court conducts a lengthy analysis regarding any ability to define the term "lawful purpose" within the statute, or failing that, to incorporate some specific definition by reference to another section of the statutes. The court's analysis is flawed.

A statute "must provide fair warning to persons of ordinary intelligence of the persons covered and the conduct prohibited and must provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary, erratic, and discriminatory enforcement." Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed. 2d 110 (1972); Florida Business for Free Enterprise v. The City of Hollywood, 673 F.2d 1213 (11th Cir. 1982). It is the Petitioner's position that the statute is written in language definite enough to provide adequate notice of prohibited conduct and is capable of understanding by a person of ordinary intelligence.

The vagueness doctrine, rooted in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the federal constitution focuses on whether the law in question affords a "person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he [or she] may act accordingly." Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U. S. 104, 108-109, 92 S. Ct. 2294, 2298-2299.

First, the legislature's failure to define the terms does not automatically render the statute unconstitutional. See Brown v. State, 629 So.2d 841, 843 (Fla. 1994). Secondly, in the absence of statutory definition, resort may be had to case law or related statutory provisions which define the term and where a statute does not specifically define words of common usage, such words are construed in their plain and ordinary sense. State v. Hagan, 387 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1980).

Moreover, an individual who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. Village of Hoffman Estates, Inc. v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed. 2d 362 (1982)[Hereinafter referred to as Flipside]. The courts will examine a law only as it was applied to the particular person challenging its constitutionality. Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed. 2d 830 (1973); Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1979)(court will not consider hypothetical acts in determining statute's constitutionality).

In the instant case the Respondent lured M.C., a child under the age of 12, to his home by promising her a toy. The Respondent gave the child a stuffed toy, put her on his bicycle and took her to his home. Upon arriving at his home the Respondent proceeded to kiss and hug the child. The district court's determination that "[t]he kiss and the hug appear to have been consensual," appears to totally disregard the circumstances in which the kiss and hug were accomplished. This Respondent approached the child while she was playing in her own front yard, enticed her with a toy, removed her from familiar surroundings and then instigated improper physical behavior in the seclusion of his home. The district court further fails to recognize that this conduct of enticing, luring and transporting a child to his home was forbidden by law. Appellant strenuously argues that this is the very conduct clearly prohibited by the statute, falling squarely within the dictates of State v. DeLaLlana, 693 So.2d 1075, 1077 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), where this "record establishes that the [Respondent] engaged in some conduct clearly prohibited by the plain and ordinary meaning of the statute. . .[and] is foreclosed from mounting a successful vagueness challenge to the statute and from complaining, because of a lack of standing, of its vagueness as applied to the hypothetical conduct of others."

Immediately upon finding their child missing M.C.'s parents sought the help of neighbors to search for the child. An hour and a half later the child was found with Respondent. At no time did the Respondent have the parents' permission to take their child.

(R 22-23) Clearly there is no ambiguity that Respondent's actions fall squarely with the prohibited conduct of section 787.025(2)(b), Florida Statutes:

For purposes of this section, the luring or enticing, or attempted luring or enticing, of a child under the age of 12 into a structure, dwelling, or conveyance without the consent of the child's parent or legal guardian shall be prima facie evidence of other than a lawful purpose.

Even should this Court find that Respondent had proper standing to challenge the constitutionality of the statute, the district court erred in finding that the term "lawful purpose" was unconstitutionally vaque. The court below relied upon Cuda v. State, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1994) to support its finding that the phrase "other than a lawful purpose" is too vague and fails to define the parameters of the term. The State respectfully, but Unlike the statute in question in Cuda, strongly, disagrees. section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997) contains ample language that clarifies and narrows the scope of the term at issue. Section 787.025(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1997) in pertinent part indicates that "[f]or purposes of this section, the luring or enticing. . . of a child under the age of 12 into a . . . dwelling. . .without the consent of the child's parent or legal guardian shall be prima facie evidence of other than a lawful purpose."

The statute further clarifies the term by stating three affirmative defenses to a prosecution. These affirmative defenses are, as follows:

- (a) The person reasonably believed that his or her action was necessary to prevent the child from being seriously injured.
- (b) The person lured or enticed, or attempted to lure or entice, the child under the age of 12 into a structure, dwelling, or conveyance for a lawful purpose.
- (c) The person's actions were reasonable under the circumstances and the defendant did not have any intent to harm the health, safety, or welfare of the child.

Section 787.025(3), Fla. Stat. (1997). This statute meets the <u>Cuda</u> standard since the term "other than a lawful purpose" is accompanied by another reference to clarify it. Hankin, 682 So. 2d at 604. The second district's finding that this logic is circular is not well founded because the Respondent has the ability to expand the definition in his defense, and it is not expanded to the point of vagueness as applied against him in determining а violation of the statutory prohibitions. Consequently, the use of the term "lawful purpose," when applied in context of the statute is clear and unambiguous but does not unduly limit the availability of defense claims based upon the circumstances of the underlying act(s). The court's finding is also in error when the court states that:

"The legislature has thus determined that the State may prove the  $\underline{\text{mens}}$   $\underline{\text{rea}}$  portion of the

offense, that the defendant had an other than lawful purpose, by proving that the defendant did not have the guardian's or the parent's permission to thus 'lure' or 'entice' the child."

The act of "luring" and/or "enticing" requires mens rea to be proven. It is not simply the "unlawful purpose" that must be proven. It is the act of luring or enticing that must be proven by the State to establish a violation under section 787.025(2)(a) or (b). Consequently, the second district's logic is incomplete.

Several criminal statutes use the word "unlawful" or the term "lawful purpose" and these statutes were not void for vagueness.

See Alexander v. State, 477 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1985); State v.

Sweet, 616 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); State v. S.R., 607 So.

2d 511 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Although the term "unlawful purpose" in some instances might be construed as not charging a violation of a positive law, the words as used in the statute must be construed in the light of its context as part of chapter 787 where "unlawful purpose" means a purpose to violate a criminal law.

Compare Mixon v. State, 226 Ga. 869, 178 S.E.2d 189 (Ga. 1970).

"'Lawful' is defined by Black's Law Dictionary as 'warranted or authorized by the law ... not contrary to nor forbidden by the law.' It is distinguished from 'legal' in part by an ethical, moral quality inherent in 'lawful' but absent in 'legal.' 'Legal' involves technical adherence to the law whereas 'lawful' embodies social mores as well." Select Creations, Inc. v. Paliafito

America, Inc. v. Miryoung, 911 F. Supp. 1130 (E.D. Wis. 1995); Black's Law Dictionary pp. 885-886 (6th ed. 1990). The use of the term "lawful purpose" in a statute intended to protect minors from sexual predators is apparent since the State of Florida has an ethical and moral obligation to protect its children from sexual exploitation.

Further, "[a] scienter or specific intent requirement may save certain statutes from a vagueness challenge. Specifically, a scienter requirement may save a statute from the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware. [citation omitted]. It will save a statute from this objection, however, only where the statute forbids a clear and definite act. The definition of the act need not be derived directly from the statute." State v. Mark Marks, P.A., 698 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1997). The statute in the instant case requires a specific intent to lure or entice.

Respondent can not claim he was unaware of the forbidden conduct since this statute requires a previous conviction under chapter 794 or section 800.04, Florida Statutes, or a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction. Because the statute only can be attacked as applied to Respondent, Respondent was placed on notice by his previous indecency with a child conviction. (R. 18). In Florida, anyone convicted under chapter 794 or section. 800.04

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ This conviction was from Houston, Texas and the statute is similar to Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes.

is subject to the conditions set forth in section. 948.03(5)(a). One of the conditions prohibits any contact with <u>a child</u> without court-approved adult supervision.<sup>2</sup> The court must impose these conditions in addition to all other standard and special conditions.

A person whose conduct clearly falls within a statute's prohibition cannot be said to be denied adequate notice. McKenney v. State, 388 So. 2d 1232, 1234 (Fla. 1980), citing Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U. section. 601, 37 L. Ed. 2d 830, 93 section. Ct. 2908 (1973). In the instant case, Respondent, who was previously convicted under a statute similar to section 800.04, Florida Statute, picked up the victim on his bike and took her back to his residence. Respondent had no parental consent to do so. Respondent showed her the bedrooms and gave her a soda. While inside Respondent's residence, Respondent asked and received a hug and a kiss from the victim. Respondent also touched a mark on the victim's left inner thigh.

The statute sufficiently places convicted sex offenders on notice. Compare State v. Muller, 693 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1997)(statute not unconstitutionally vague; fact that vehicle is rendered immobile with a locking device as an alternative to impoundment should come as no surprise to one convicted of DUI);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Appellant was placed on sex offender treatment and probation in Texas which prohibited any contact with  $\underline{a}$  <u>child</u> without courtapproved adult supervision.

and <u>Goin v. Commission on Ethics</u>, 658 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)(the statute merely places a duty on public officials to avoid certain dealings and transactions...there is no unfairness in expecting our public officials to ask themselves why something is being offered to them and to exercise some insight into the motivations of others).

Similarly, it is reasonable for the State to limit Respondent's access to children based on his prior conviction. Respondent, who was convicted of indecency with a child (who was under the age of 12), would be on notice as to the meaning of intentionally luring or enticing a child into his residence "for other than a lawful purpose." Because the statute requires scienter or culpable intent, it should be given greater leeway when challenged on vagueness grounds than those statutes aimed at regulating "purely individual behavior."

Under this less stringent standard, Section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997) would be found constitutional so long as it establishes a "reasonably definite standard of conduct." It thus appears that the regular test for vagueness does not apply in the instant case. State v. Moo Young, 566 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); See also Newman v. Carson, 280 So. 2d 426, 430 (Fla.1973).

Even if the regular test for vagueness applied, "[t]o make a statute sufficiently certain to comply with constitutional requirements, it is not necessary that it furnish detailed plans

and specifications of the acts or conduct prohibited. Impossible standards are not required. Statutory language that conveys a definite warning as to proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices satisfies due process." Newman v. Carson, 280 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1973). The "prohibition against excessive vagueness does not invalidate every statute which a reviewing court believes could have been drafted with greater precision." Rose v. Locke, 423 U.S. 48, 96 section. Ct. 243, 46 L. Ed. 2d 185 (1975).

The statute must be sufficiently definite in language to tell persons of reasonable intelligence the kind of conduct that is proscribed. State v. Greco, 479 So. 2d 786 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); State v. Buckner, 472 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). This Court in Buckner, has held:

Obviously, if we demanded precise definition of every statutory word to shield against the void for vagueness doctrine our codified laws would fill endless shelves and the result would be obfuscation rather than clarification of our organic law. Instead, in the absence of a statutory definition, we shall assume the common or ordinary meaning of a word.

Buckner, 472 So. 2d at 1229.

"Lack of precision is not itself offensive to the requirements of due process." State v. Hodges, 614 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). "All that is required is that the people to whom the statute is addressed will, if they are of common intelligence, be placed on notice as to what the law forbids."

<u>High Ol' Times v. Busbee</u>, 673 F. 2d 1225 (11th Cir. 1982); see also <u>State v. Peters</u>, 534 So. 2d 760 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

Thus, applying the facts of the case at hand, Section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997) provides sufficient guidance to Respondent to enable him to determine whether his conduct falls within the proscriptions of the statute. This same logic applies to all individuals who are subject to the provisions of section 787.025, having garnered the requisite knowledge from their previous experience with the prohibited act which resulted in a prior conviction, thus triggering the provisions of the statute. Section 787.025(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997).

Certainly the applications of the challenged statute pass constitutional muster. As long as the statute is not impermissibly vague in all its applications, this Court must find the statute to be constitutional.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court find section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997), constitutional. That the ruling of the district court be reversed, and that trial court's ruling determining that section 787.025, Florida Statutes (1997) is constitutional be reinstated, upholding the conviction and sentence of Respondent.