IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA Petitioner,

vs.

FSC NO.: SC00-119

JAMES E. BRAKE, JR., Respondent.

REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

PETER S. BARANOWICZ, ESQUIRE BARANOWICZ & CALDERON, P.A. 355 WEST VENICE AVENUE VENICE, FLORIDA 34285 (941) 483-4614 FBN: 0611360 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the record on appeal shall be designated by the letter "R" followed by the page number. Petitioner shall be referred to as the State or Petitioner, and Respondent shall be referred to as Respondent or Defendant.

STATEMENT REGARDING TYPE

The style of type used in this brief is 12 point. It is typed with a font that is proportionately spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts, but would additionally note as follows:

The sentencing guidelines filed and approved in this case do not reflect legal status violation points, nor community sanction violation points (R. 47).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 787.025 is unconstitutional, and violates the United States Constitution Amendments One, Five, Fourteen, in addition to the Florida Constitution Article One Section Nine. The statute is overbroad on its face, and Respondent surely had standing to argue the unconstitutionality of this statute, both on overbreadth and vagueness grounds.

The statute also has an unconstitutional delegation of power to courts and juries by failing to define what is "other than a lawful purpose".

As a final note, the statute is burden shifting by providing that a <u>prima facie</u> can be made on the element of lack of a lawful purpose, and then creating an affirmative defense that the defendant can show a "lawful purpose". This burden shifting provision is violative of the U.S. Constitution Amendment Fourteen.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

SECTION 787.025 WHICH PROSCRIBES LURING OR ENTICING A CHILD TO ENTER A DWELLING, STRUCTURE, OR CONVEYANCE, FOR OTHER THAN A LAWFUL PURPOSE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE

The Second District Court of Appeals held that the statutory provision relating to the crime of Luring or Enticing a Child is unconstitutionally vague. <u>See Brake vs. State</u>, 746 So.2d 527 (Fla., 2nd DCA 1999). Primary reliance was predicated upon this Court's previous decision in <u>Cuda vs. State</u>, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla., 1994), which held that the exploitation of the elderly or disabled by the improper or "illegal use" or management of funds of that person was unconstitutionally vague, due to the lack of statutory definition of the offending language, of "illegal use", and this Court's finding that the phrase was too vague to give notice to the public of the proscribed conduct. As such, the determination of the standard of guilt to be applied was left to the courts or juries, which was an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority. This Court's prior decision in <u>Cuda</u> mandates an affirmance of the Second District Court of Appeals decision in this case.

As noted by the Second District Court of Appeals decision, this Court's <u>Cuda</u> decision compared and contrasted its prior holdings in <u>State vs. Rodriguez</u>, 365 So.2d 157 (Fla., 1978), and <u>Locklin vs. Pridgeon</u>, 30 So.2nd 102 (1947). In <u>Rodriguez</u>, the food stamp fraud statute phrase "not authorized by law" was not unconstitutionally vague because Chapter 409 gave notice that it was a federal program with federal regulations, and accordingly, the "not authorized by law" phrase related to conduct not authorized by state and federal food stamp law. In contrast, in <u>Locklin vs. Pridgeon</u>, the language "authorized by law" in a statute which prohibited federal and state employees from using their authority to commit an "act not authorized by law", was held unconstitutionally vague, due to the lack of statutory definition, or plain meaning so as to a) put the public on notice of the forbidden conduct; and b.) prevent law enforcement from arbitrary and selective enforcement. Additionally, the Second District Court of Appeals decision in <u>Brake</u> rejected the use of the "lawful purpose" affirmative defense, noting that it was unconstitutionally burden shifting, and circuitous to say that the affirmative defense gave meaning to the otherwise vague element of "other than a lawful purpose".

In addition to this Court's <u>Cuda</u> decision, two other decisions on overbreadth analysis, not cited by Petitioner at the district court level, nor before this Court, compel a conclusion that the instant statute is overbroad on its face as it impacts on First Amendment protected speech and the right of association. In <u>Wyche vs. State</u>, 619 So.2d 231 (Fla., 1993), this Court held a Tampa city statute on loitering for the purpose of prostitution unconstitutional on its face where a known prostitute who, within one year previous to the date of occurrence had been convicted of prostitution, was prohibited to loiter in or near any thoroughfare or place open to the public in a manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose of inducing prostitution. This law was also found to be too vague because: a violation of this law was determined based on law enforcement officer's discretion; it violated substantive due process by punishing innocent activities; and impermissibly provided a greater penalty than that imposed by state statutes for similar criminal conduct. In the instant case involving Respondent Brake, the Court's first two rationales for rejecting the Tampa city code statute on loitering for purposes of prostitution are fully impacted herein.

5

As noted in Wyche, the First Amendment, and Article One Section Five of the Florida Constitution, protect the right of individuals to associate with whom they please, and to assemble with others for political or for social purposes. When law makers attempt to restrict or burden fundamental and basic rights such as these, the laws must not only be directed towards a legitimate public purpose, but they must be drawn as narrowly as possible. Statutes cannot be so broad that they prohibit constitutionally protected conduct as well as unprotected conduct. The overbreadth doctrine permits an individual whose own speech or conduct may be prohibited to challenge an enactment facially "because it also threatens others not before the court - those who desire to engage in legally protected expression, but who may refrain from doing so rather than risk prosecution or undertake to have the law declared partially invalid". See Wyche vs State supra, 619 So.2d at 234. Additionally, this Court found the Tampa ordinance to be unconstitutionally vague. See Wyche vs. State supra, 619 So.2d at 236; see also Kolender vs. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352 (U.S. 1983) (loitering statute held to be unconstitutionally vague by failing to clarify what was contemplated by the requirement that a suspect provide a "credible and reliable" identification); City of Houston vs. Hill, 482 U.S. 398 (1987) (ordinance making it unlawful to interrupt police officer in performing of duties). Finally in Wyche, this Court held that the Tampa ordinance also violated substantive due process since it may be used to punish entirely innocent activities. See Florida Constitution Article One, Section Nine; State vs. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125, 1129 (Fla., 1986). In a recent unanimous decision, State vs. OC, 24 Florida Law Weekly (S) 425 (Supreme Court decided September 16, 1999), this Court declared unconstitutional the enhancement statute based on a defendant's membership in criminal street gangs since it was based on mere association and violated a defendant's substantive due process

rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article One Section Nine of the Florida Constitution.

In essence, the instant statute prohibits those like Respondent Brake, who has previously been convicted of a violation of Chapter 794 or Section 800.04 (or violation of similar law of another jurisdiction) from saying anything to a child under the age of twelve that might lure or entice or attempt to lure or entice that child into a structure, dwelling, or conveyance "for other than a lawful purpose". A prima facie case of "other than a lawful purpose" is made by introducing a lack of consent from the child's parent or legal guardian. In essence, this statute seeks to create a bubble around any First Amendment communication between a previously convicted sex offender and a child under twelve. It is noteworthy that violations of Chapter 794 also include adult sex offenders with adult victims, and those who have been convicted of Sexual Activity by Person in Familiar Custodial Authority, 794.011 (8), or former sec. 794.041. As to the latter, would there not be an affirmative defense to a convicted sex offender luring his own child or a child with whom he had a custodial relationship? Noteworthy, the statute does not apply to child pornographers, see Florida States sec. 827.071, child abusers sec. 827.03, nor commercial child pornographers, see Florida Statutes sec. 847.0145. This statute would apply to those convicted of sec. 794.05, both as presently written (individual engaging in sexual activity with a sixteen or seventeen year old when the defendant is above twenty-four years of age), or the prior version of 794.05 (any defendant over eighteen who engages in sexual activity with a sixteen or seventeen year old of prior chaste character). As to violations of 800.04, the 787.025 sweep would include those above eighteen who engaged in sexual activity with a child between the ages of thirteen and fifteen, and would preclude discussion with an individual under twelve

when such discussion could result in the enticement to enter a structure, conveyance or vessel (eg. "go home").

Additionally, the lack of a definition in sec. 787.025 for "other than a lawful purpose", leaves the determination of the standard of guilt to be supplied by the courts or juries which is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. <u>See Cuda vs. State supra</u>, 639 So.2d at 24; Locklin vs. Pridgeon supra, 130 So.2d at 103.

In Schmitt vs. State, 590 So.2d 404 (Fla., 1991), this Court held that the definition for purposes of the sexual performance statute to include acts or depiction involving actual physical contact with a person's clothed or unclothed genitals, pubic area, buttocks, or if female, breasts, was unconstitutionally overbroad and violated due process. As such, the provision prohibiting knowing possession of any depiction known to include sexual conduct by a child was overbroad to the extent it incorporated by reference the overbroad definitional element. In Schmitt, this Court salvaged that statute by severing the unconstitutional provision. In the instant statute, however, the overbroad provision, "other than a lawful purpose" cannot be salvaged without also deleting both proof of a prima facie case, and a statutory affirmative defense. To delete those sections, would basically rewrite the legislative act to create a blanket prohibition on communication with a child under twelve by certain previously convicted sex offenders that would lead to the child entering a dwelling, conveyance, or structure. It is submitted that such a severance of the unconstitutional portion might accord with the legislative intent of the statute, but would call into play far more serious concerns of overbreadth for purposes of association and speech.

In the absence of statutory definition or a commonly accepted "dictionary" meaning, this

Court has not hesitated to declare legislative enactments unconstitutionally vague. <u>See egs.</u> <u>Brown vs. State</u> 629 So.2d 841 (Fla., 1994) (sentencing enhancement for narcotics activity in proximity to "public housing facility"); <u>B.H. vs. State</u>, 645 So.2d 987 (Fla., 1994) (juvenile escape statute unconstitutional for vagueness where HRS designation of restrictiveness level for commitment facility unbridled); <u>State vs. Mincey</u>, 672 So.2d 524 (Fla., 1996) (negligent treatment of children statute, sec. 827.05, held unconstitutionally vague); <u>State v. Mark Marks</u>, <u>P.A.</u>, 698 So.2d 533 (Fla., 1997) (insurance fraud statute, sec. 817.234 (1), unconstitutionally vague as applied to attorneys based on lack of adequate notice of when an omission will result in an "incomplete" claim under the statute).

Recent District Court of Appeals decisions which also held statutory enactments unconstitutionally vague include <u>State vs. McCarthy</u>, 615 So.2d 784 (Fla., 2nd DCA 1993) [sec. 559.809 (1) relating to business opportunity sellers and misrepresentation of prospects or changes for success of proposed or existing business opportunity overbroad in violation of first amendment]; and <u>State vs. Fuchs</u>, 24 FLW (D) 2310 (Fla., 5th DCA decided October 8, 1999)(statute prohibiting contributing to delinquency or dependency of a child held unconstitutionally vague where no reference to the laws of Florida "contained in statute"; "delinquent" "dependent child" and "child in need of services" were not defined in the statute), since definitions of the terms were not included in the statute, nor subject to a commonly accepted meaning.

In cases in which this Court has rejected arguments that a statute is unconstitutionally vague, dictionary meaning has been more than adequate to make clear the meaning of the statute, see eg. State vs. Mitro, 700 So. 2d 643 (Fla., 1997, (statute regulating issuance of identification

card by private vendors not unconstitutional for lack of definitions of "authenticated" or certified copy, and "not available"), or the statute itself provides adequate definition for the subject term, <u>see Bouters vs. State</u>, 659 So.2d 235 (Fla., 1995) ("harasses" defined by statute and sufficiently similar to assault statute to place individual on notice of proscribed conduct for purposes of Stalking).

District Court of Appeals decisions have consistently upheld statutory enactments in which the claim of vagueness attacked a phrase or conduct which in general terms can be comprehended by persons of common understanding. <u>See e.g. Falco vs. State</u>, 669 So.2d 353 (4th DCA 1996) ("custodial authority"); <u>State vs. Bley</u>, 652 So.2d 1159 (Fla., 2nd DCA 1995) ("physical injury" in child abuse statute not vague).

As noted previously, Respondent Brake also argued that at the trial court that the use of the phrase "other than a"lawful purpose" served to delegate from the legislature to the courts and juries the responsibility to flesh out the meaning of such an element. <u>Compare BH vs. State</u> <u>supra</u>, 645 So.2d 990-992 (delegation to HRS to define restrictiveness levels for juvenile escape statute), <u>with Avatar Development Corporation vs. State</u>, 723 So.2d 199 (Fla., 1998) (sec. 403.161 which penalizes the willful violation of any administrative rule, regulation, or permit condition for purposes of preventing and controlling pollution held to be constitutionally valid delegation of legislative authority to administrative agency since DEP utilizes expertise and special knowledge to flesh out the legislature's stated intent to prevent pollution by creating rules, regulations and permit conditions necessary to effectuate same). At the trial level, the State placed primary reliance on <u>Hankin vs. State</u>, 682 So.2d 602 (Fla., 2nd DCA 1996), which upheld the definition given to "illegal act" for purposes of sentencing aggravation since the "illegal act"

was modified with "by means of concealment, guile or fraud", and the Second District concluded that a person of common intelligence would understand what conduct was to be punished with the statutory enhancement for an illegal act committed by means of concealment, guile or fraud.

In the only two decisions from other jurisdictions that Respondent could find dealing with the constitutionality of the luring statute, the legislation was radically different from the instant case. In a decision not reported in the North East Second Report, State vs. Bertke, 1988 W.L. 83491 (Ohio App. 1st District 1988), the 1st District Court of Appeals for Hamilton County held Ohio's Luring statute constitutional. The Ohio statute prohibited any person from knowingly soliciting, coaxing, enticing or luring any child under fourteen years of age to enter into a vehicle if the defendant did not have the express or implied permission of the parent, guardian or other legal custodian of the child and the defendant was not a law enforcement officer, medic, fire fighter, or other individual providing emergency services. The Ohio statute provided that it was an affirmative defense if the actor undertook the activity in response to a bona fide emergency or did so in a reasonable belief that it was necessary to preserve the health, safety or welfare of the child. The Ohio statute dealt strictly with Luring into a vehicle, a misdemeanor of the first degree. In rejecting overbreadth, the Court of Appeals for the First District, Hamilton County, stated that overbreadth is confined to First Amendment cases, and since First Amendment concerns were not raised at the trial level, the trial court erred in applying the doctrine. The Court also found that the definitions of all other terms were either described by statute ("privileged", "vehicle" and "knowingly",) or accorded an ordinary meaning from a dictionary ("solicit", "coax", "entice" and "lure"). It is noteworthy that the Ohio statute made no statement of "other than a lawful purpose". In a more recent decision from Washington State, State vs.

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